1950

Mona C. Hudson v. Union Pacific Railroad Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF CASE

This suit was brought by the appellant, Mona C. Hudson, against the respondent, Union Pacific Railroad Company, to recover damages for personal injuries sustained in a crossing accident. The appellant was a passenger in an automobile driven by one Era Jones. The automobile and a freight train of the respondent had a crossing collision. At the close of the trial the court directed a verdict of no cause of action, and this appeal was taken.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

It will aid the court in a study of the facts to know that the motion for a directed verdict was made on the following grounds: (1) a denial of any negligence on the part of the railroad; (2) a denial that the negligence, if any, was a proximate cause of appellant's injuries; (3) a claim that appellant was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law; and (4) a claim that the evidence showed that the negligence of Era Jones, the driver of the car, was the sole proximate cause of the accident. (R. 269) The record does not disclose the basis for the trial court's ruling—it may have been on any one or on all of the four points specified. It also will be helpful to the court to know at the outset that appellant claims negligence in the failure of the train to give warning of the approaching train; denies that she was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law, and in addition claims that the respondent had the last clear chance to avoid the accident. (R. 4)

There is a conflict in the testimony on some of the matters of fact. Where there is a direct conflict, we state only that portion which favors the position of the appellant. This is done because the court directed a verdict against appellant and thus ruled that as a matter of law there was no view of the evidence which would have permitted the appellant to recover.

This accident happened on May 1st, 1948, near Logandale, Nevada. (R. 52) The day was clear. (R. 249) The collision occurred at about 3:15 p.m. (R.

249) The appellant was a passenger in the car. She was riding in the front seat on the right hand side. She and Mrs. Jones were just out for a ride. Mrs. Jones had wanted to take a gift to some people who lived near Logandale and Mrs. Hudson, the appellant, went with her. They had delivered the gift and then had decided to go for a ride. (R. 74, 75, 87) Mrs. Hudson had ridden with Mrs. Jones many times before. (R. 77) Mrs. Jones was a good driver and she was paying close attention to the road. (R. 77, 102) The appellant and Mrs. Jones were talking casually. (R. 93) The windows on both sides of the car were open. (R. 93) Neither appellant nor Mrs. Jones were hard of hearing. (R. 105) Appellant thought that Mrs. Jones was "paying every attention" to her driving. (R. 77) By frequently riding with her, the appellant had determined that Mrs. Jones was a competent driver. There had never been any reason for appellant to be nervous while riding with her. (R. 77) The car was going slow. One witness placed the speed at about 18 miles per hour. (R. 225) It is also clear that the driver, Mrs. Jones, knew of the location of the railroad track. The car had crossed over the tracks just a few minutes before. They had found the road they were traveling to be partially blocked and had turned around within a short distance after crossing the track, and were returning to the same crossing. (R. 75, 191, 220)

The railroad track was a single track. (Ex. 3 and 4) It ran in a general north-south direction. (R. 54) It was essentially straight for some distance before reaching the highway. (R. 261) The train was going

toward the south. (R. 61) At mile post number 854, near Logandale, Nevada, this track crossed a country road. (R. 52) The road was winding, but its general course was also north-south. The car in which plaintiff was riding was going toward the south along this road, but as the road turned to go up over the tracks the car would be facing toward the west. (R. 61) Thus the road crossed the track at approximately right angles.

We believe that the course of the road, its location and elevation, are of importance insofar as the issue of contributory negligence is concerned. We, therefore, start to the north and east where car turned and trace the course of that road to the crossing. Appellant testified that the car had come from Logandale, crossed the tracks at the crossing here involved and had gone north for some short distance. She said that "when we got down in the ravine, we couldn't get through and we turned around and came back." (R. 75) Since the jury could have believed this, it is perhaps not necessary to describe the area beyond the ravine. There is considerable evidence on this, however, and we refer to it briefly. Keate, the deputy sheriff, testified that beyond the ravine, to the north, the road would be about one mile from the tracks. (R. 58) There is a ridge that runs east and west and the tracks run north and south. One could see the tracks coming into view but because of this ridge, one could not see north along them. (R. 64) Then the road dips down into a ravine. The sheriff said that a train crew might be able to look down on the top of the car, but that

passengers in the car could not have seen the train while the car was in the ravine. (R. 64, 67) The road is down in this ravine for about one-eighth of a mile. (R. 67) As the road comes up out of the ravine, it is more or less facing the track. The track can be seen head on, but there is a hill or ridge which prevents anyone in a car from seeing north along the track at this point. (R. 64, 67) Exhibit 1, which is a rough sketch made by Sheriff Keate, shows the road facing the track but to the right of the road (north) there is a hill shown which blocks the view to the north. (R. 70) The hill can also be seen in the photographs introduced by the railroad.

The fact that the road is so low that the passengers in the car could not see the train while in the ravine, together with the fact that even as the car came up out of the ravine (facing the tracks) the tracks to the north were hidden from view is important because, as will be hereinafter noted in detail, there is evidence from which the jury could have found that the train was behind (north of) the car as the car came out of the ravine. (R. 224) In any event the road dips into the ravine where the train crew might have been able to see the top of the car, but the passengers in the car could not have seen the train. (R. 64, 67) Thereafter the road turns to the west to come up from the ravine. As it comes out of the ravine the tracks could have been seen head on, but a small hill blocks vision to the north along the tracks. (Ex. 1, R. 57, 64-67) The road then turns abruptly and goes parallel to the tracks. Exhibit 3 is a good picture of the turn just

after the road leaves the ravine. The road then is parallel to the track for some 300 feet. (R. 55) It is approximately 75 feet from the track along this 300-foot strip. (R. 55, 150) The road then turns abruptly to the right and goes up a sharp incline to cross the tracks. (R. 55) This also is shown by Exhibit 3 and by Exhibit 1 (the sheriff's sketch).

Insofar as elevation is concerned, the sheriff testified that the road was considerably lower than the track. He was asked: "And they would see it [the train] for this 300 feet that it parallels the track?" And he answered: "Yes, they would if they looked straight up." (R. 68) At page 67, the sheriff said they could have seen the train had it been on the track opposite them if they had looked "up at an angle."

Jenkins, an engineer, testified also that the train could not have been seen from the ravine, (R. 152) and that the road went up a sharp incline as it went up onto the tracks. (R. 154) This incline onto the track is also mentioned by Mace, a brakeman. (R. 206-7) Mace also testified that he could see the top of the car in the ravine (R. 202) but he did not know whether or not he could see the occupants. (R. 203)

MOVEMENT OF THE CAR AND TRAIN

As to the movements of the car and the train, there is some conflict. It is clear that the car first crossed the tracks while it was going toward the north. The appellant testified that the car turned around in the ravine. (R. 75, 90) Other witnesses (the

railroad crew) testified that they saw the car turn around and start back south along the road toward the crossing. (R. 191) The car was not traveling fast. One of the railroad employees estimated the speed to be about 18 miles per hour. (R. 225) The engineer who had control of the train was on the right hand side of the cab. (R. 165) He perhaps could have seen to the left, but he was not looking. (R. 166) The left side of the train was being watched by the fireman, and it was his duty to watch to the left. (R. 167) He testified that he saw the car turn around near the dam, (R. 201) and kept his eyes on the car and saw it proceeding along this road and saw it go down into the ravine. (R. 202) He said he could see the top of the car at all points, (R. 197) and that he did not know whether he could see the driver when the car was down in the ravine. (R. 202) He also said that he saw the car proceeding along the strip parallel to the train but that he did not say anything to the engineer; (R. 204) that it looked as though the driver of the car was not paying any attention to the car at all. (R. 205) He was asked: "By the way the car was being operated, it appeared they had never seen the train? Answer: "That is right." He never, at any time, warned the engineer that the car was approaching the tracks. (R. 205) Sheriff Keate corroborated this by his testimony that when he interviewed the train crew he was advised by them that they had observed the car for a quarter of a mile approaching the crossing. (R. 60) It thus appears clear that the car went over the crossing, went some distance north along the road, that it turned

around and proceeded back toward the crossing at a speed of 18 miles per hour. At least while it was down in the ravine the occupants of the car could not see the train but the train crew could see the top of the car. (R. 198) As the train came out of the ravine, the sheriff's drawing, Exhibit 1, shows the road approaching the track at right angles, but because there was a hill to the right of the road the occupants of the car, according to the sheriff, could not have seen north along the tracks, but they could have seen the tracks head-on. (R. 64-68) There is evidence from which the jury could have found that the train was not on the tracks at that point, (R. 104) but that it was north, and behind this hill as the car came out of the ravine. (R. 224) The car then turned to the left and paralleled the tracks for some 300 feet, (R. 55) and without changing speed or doing anything to indicate that its occupants had seen the train, (R. 205) proceeded at the same speed onto the crossing. The train coming from behind the car (R. 224) could only have been seen on this 300-foot strip had appellant looked back and up at a sharp angle. (R. 68)

The appellant's testimony is that she did not see the train at all until it was right on them, and all she had time to say was, "Oh, my God." (R. 76) She did give a statement to the railroad claims agent in which she indicated that she had seen the train for some fifty feet before the impact. However, both the appellant and the claims agent who took the statement testified that he had pressed her to make an estimate of the distance, that before any distance was mentioned

she had advised him that the train was right on them before she saw it, and that she only had time to exclaim, "Oh, my God" before the impact. (R. 96-98, 129) This remark was not placed by the claims agent in the statement which he had had the appellant sign. There is nothing in the statement inconsistent with her testimony at the trial, except the estimate that the train was fifty feet away. The circumstances under which this statement was given, as testified to by the appellant and admitted by the claims agent (R. 129) are such that the jury could have found that her testimony at the trial was true and that the train was right upon them before she noticed it. (R. 76)

Insofar as the movement of the train is concerned, the testimony is that it was moving at a speed of from 15 miles per hour (R. 225) to 20 miles per hour. (R. 158) At 20 miles per hour the train could have stopped in 120 feet. (R. 169) There is no evidence as to how quickly it could have stopped at 15 miles per hour. It was proceeding down the straight track with some members of the crew keeping the car in sight at all times, but without warning the engineer that the car was approaching. (R. 192) As the car came out of the ravine it was ahead of the train. Mrs. Hudson so testified and one of the train crew corroborated her as follows: (R. 224-5)

Mr. Oliver:

Q. You saw the car again as it came up out of the ravine?

A. Yes.

Q. Just before it started on that parallel strip to go to the track?

A. Yes.

Q. And to that point was the car a little behind you, or a little ahead of you? [Note: Oliver was riding in the cab on the engine at front of train. (R. 218)]

A. It was a little ahead of me.

Q. The car was a little ahead of you as it came up out of the ravine?

A. Yes.

Q. Assuming this—this is the bottom of the ravine, here is the car as it proceeds back before making this turn to the parallel—before it came to this point to go parallel with the track, you understand this map, I take it

A. Yes.

Q. It was right along in here (indicates)?

A. Yes.

Q. At that time the train was to the rear a short distance?

A. Yes.

Q. Back of the car?

A. Yes.

Q. You are sure of that?

A. Yes.

Mrs. Hudson testified: (R. 104)

Q. Did you ever at any time prior to the time when you looked up and saw the train, did you ever look toward the right to the railroad track when you were traveling on that 300-foot strip?

A. After we came out of the cut, naturally I looked out of the cut, I didn't see a train there at that time. The train was coming back of us. She might have seen it out of the rear vision mirror. I didn't have a rear vision mirror.

Q. You say you looked as you came out of the ravine?

A. Yes.

Q. As you traveled that 300-foot strip did you look?

A. I do not know whether I looked or not. When we made that turn the train was right on us—unless she was looking in the rear vision mirror I do not know how she could have seen it because the train was back of us all the time.

The appellant testified that she did not hear a bell or a whistle. (R. 79, 85, 107) Her hearing was all right. (R. 79) The car windows were down. (R. 78) They were talking only casually. (R. 93) The radio was not on, (R. 85) and the speed of the car was so slow that there would have been no wind noise. (R. 225) The car was on a road which under the uncontradicted evidence was within 75 feet of the track. (R. 55) The engine was equipped with a bell, (R. 159) and had an air whistle which would give a very shrill sound. (R. 158) With the car as close behind the car as it obviously was, the physical factors are such as to suggest that the whistle was not blown. With a powerful air whistle, under the circumstances indicated above, the train crew who observed the car's approach to the tracks should have been able to literally shake it with sound vibration, and certainly should have been able to bring home

to the driver of the car that the train was approaching. Unless one is to attribute an intention on the part of the driver and of the appellant to commit suicide by driving in front of the train, one must conclude that they did not hear any warning signal. We think that the fact that they did drive up on the track is itself evidence that they did not hear any signal and that under the circumstances they could not have helped hearing it had it been sounded.

We desire to emphasize in this statement of facts that the train crew observed the car at all times. This is not contradicted. It is admitted by the engineer and by the fireman that it was the fireman's duty to watch for traffic approaching the train from the left side, (R. 167) that he did see the car approaching; that the car did nothing to indicate that the driver had seen the train, (R. 205) and that the fireman gave no warning whatever to the engineer until after the car had arrived directly in front of the train and a collision was unavoidable. (R. 192) At that time he shouted to the engineer to apply the brakes. The extent and nature of Mrs. Hudson's injuries are not material here.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THERE WAS EVIDENCE FROM WHICH A JURY COULD HAVE DETERMINED THAT THE RAILROAD WAS NEGLIGENT.

We argue the question of the railroad's negligence because it is one of the bases assigned by the respondent for its motion for a directed verdict.

The negligence relied upon by the defendant is that the train crew failed to give adequate warning of its approach. It is our contention that respondent had both a statutory duty and a common law duty to warn the occupants of the car of the train's approach. We contend that the jury could have found (1) that no warning whatever was given and (2) that even had the jury believed the train crew to the effect that a signal was given, it could nevertheless have found that the warning given was not adequate under the circumstances of this case.

THE COMMON LAW DUTY

We contend that even were there no statute requiring the respondent to give a warning of the approach of its train to a crossing, it nevertheless would have had, and did have, a common law duty to warn the car of the train's approach. The circumstances which required the train crew to give a warning of its approach are as follows: The jury would have been compelled to find under the uncontradicted testimony that the train crew saw the car turn around; (R. 191) that the fireman, whose duty it was to watch for cars

approaching the train from the left hand side, saw the car at all times after it turned around; that he could see it go down into the ravine, (R. 197) see the top of it while it was in the ravine, (R. 198) watch it come out of the ravine and pull on to the tracks. (R. 198-204) The car had done nothing whatever to suggest that the driver had seen the train. (R. 205) Still the fireman did not advise the engineer that the car was approaching. (R. 192) The distance that the fireman thus observed the car was considerable. It was in the ravine for nearly one quarter of a mile and paralleled the tracks for 300 feet after coming out of the ravine. The jury could have found that the train was coming from directly behind the car. (R. 224) It was above it so the occupants of the car could only have seen the train by looking backwards and up at a sharp angle. (R. 224, 67-68) With the crew knowing that the train and the car were thus approaching a crossing, the crew had a common law duty either to adjust the speed of the train to avoid an accident or to warn the car of its approach.

The train was only going 15 miles an hour according to one witness, and at 20 miles per hour could have come to a complete stop in 120 feet. (R. 165, 169) It had a bell and a shrill whistle. The car was only 75 feet away and while it was slightly ahead of the train, (R. 224) they traveled parallel to each other for 300 feet.

Under the view of the evidence most favorable to the appellant, the jury could have concluded that no

signal of any kind was given. It must be remembered that under the evidence, the car was traveling only about 18 miles per hour. (R. 225) The train was going between 15 and 20 miles per hour. (R. 158, 225) While the jury could have placed the car slightly ahead of the train as it turned down the 300-foot strip of road parallel to the tracks, the car still would have been within 75 feet of the engine of the train. (R. 55) The car windows were all down. (R. 78) The radio was not on. (R. 85) The occupants of the car were talking only casually. (R. 93) It was a clear day, out in the country. (R. 249) It is almost a certainty that the occupants of the car did not hear any signal, for the car did go onto the track directly in front of the train. All of these facts the jury had before it. It also had the positive testimony of Mrs. Hudson that the bell was not sounded and the whistle was not blown. (R. 79, 85, 107) On page 107 she was asked: "Didn't you hear a whistle at all?" Answer: "Absolutely there was no whistle of any kind." On page 85 she was asked: "Was anything going on in the car itself, or outside the car that distracted your attention so you couldn't have heard a whistle had one been blown?" Answer: "No, there wasn't anything, there wasn't any whistle blown." On page 79 she testified that she did not hear the bell or any other sound until just before the impact. The jury thus could have believed that no signal of any kind was given. Mrs. Hudson so testified.

Taking the view of the evidence most favorable to the respondent, (which is exactly opposite from

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