1950

Mona C. Hudson v. Union Pacific Railroad Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE FROM WHICH A JURY COULD HAVE DETERMINED THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS NEGLIGENT OR THAT ANY NEGLIGENCE ON THE PART OF THE DEFENDANT WAS IN ANY WAY A PROXIMATE CAUSE OF THE ACCIDENT.
(Appellant's Point I and Point II)

The only negligence claimed by plaintiff is that the train crew failed to give adequate warning of its approach. The only testimony offered by plaintiff tending to show the

defendant failed to give the required crossing signal and failed to ring the bell on the train as the train approached the crossing is the testimony of the plaintiff herself. In response to questions by her counsel she stated she heard no whistle and heard no bell as she proceeded toward the crossing (R. 79). Again, she states nothing distracted her attention and no whistle was blown (R. 85). On cross-examination she repeated this testimony, stating in response to a question: "Absolutely there was no whistle of any kind" (R. 107). She further stated on cross-examination that she wasn't conscious of the nearby railroad track (R. 104), that she was talking casually to the driver of the car (R. 93), and that she and the driver were talking about hearing the "click" of the automobile transmission when 20 miles per hour speed was reached. For 300 feet the road paralleled the track and was 75 feet therefrom. She testified the windows of the automobile were down.

In behalf of the railroad the engineer on the train in question testified he sounded the regular crossing whistle—two longs, a short and a long—and that the automatic bell was turned on about two miles from the crossing and was left on after the accident (R. 158-159); that the first blast of the whistle was at a point approximately one-fourth mile from the crossing (R. 174). On cross-examination the engineer admitted he had no definite recollection of blowing the whistle on this occasion but based his testimony with respect to the whistle upon his usual practice in that regard. The fireman testified the engineer blew the whistle for the crossing (R. 192); that the first blast was about one-fourth mile from the crossing (R. 208-210); that the

bell was ringing (R. 193, 210, 215). The brakeman testified the whistle was blown and the bell was ringing (R. 220), and the whistle was still blowing at the time of impact (R. 227). The swing brakeman testified the first he noticed the whistle was when the train went into emergency (R. 240, 244). The conductor testified he heard the whistle at the time the train went into emergency; that the emergency application brought the whistle to his attention (R. 248); that he heard the whistle blowing before the emergency application, but he paid no particular attention to it (R. 250, 252). The conductor further testified he didn't hear the bell until after the train had stopped, but the noise of the train drowns the sound of the bell in the caboose where he was riding (R. 252). Mr. Jackson, brakeman riding in the caboose, testified he heard the engineer whistle for the grade crossing (R. 254). He also testified he didn't hear the bell until after the train stopped because of the noise in the caboose (R. 258).

Against plaintiff's testimony that no whistle was blown and no bell sounded, then, there is the testimony of six crew members that the whistle was blown, one of the six testifying, however, that he first heard the signal at the time of the emergency application and if a person were paying attention he would hear the whistle from his position in the cupola of the caboose; and one other, the engineer, testifying that he based his positive statement upon his custom and habit of whistling at all crossings; and we have the testimony of three members of the crew that the bell was ringing as the train approached the crossing, and the other three members of the crew were in a position where

they could not hear if the bell was ringing. In the face of this positive testimony, the negative evidence as to the failure to give warnings is without probative force.

We preface our argument concerning this negative testimony with our observation that the law applicable to this point is not and cannot be definitely settled, in this jurisdiction or elsewhere. The reports abound with cases in point, and the subject has been exhaustively treated by our own Supreme Court. Because no two items of negative testimony are alike and because so many factors must be considered in analyzing testimony, no accurate rules can be formulated to determine what evidence is negative and what negative evidence has probative value. It is submitted, however, that if the evidence in the case is tested by the formulae announced in the Utah cases, it will be found lacking in probative force.

One of the first Utah cases we find in point is *Russell v. Watkins*, 49 Utah 598, 164 P. 867. Plaintiff was riding a motorcycle toward Ogden, and he approached a horse and wagon traveling in the opposite direction. Defendant was driving an automobile behind the wagon, and he turned out to pass the wagon and collided head-on with the motorcycle. Plaintiff testified defendant failed to blow his horn, and his testimony was corroborated by the driver of the wagon. The court said this:

“As to the first proposition, that of the defendant failing to signal his approach, before the accident, we have searched the record in vain for any tangible evidence to sustain plaintiff’s contention. The direct and positive testimony of the defendant himself con-

cerning his nearing the place of the accident, namely, 'I came up behind a man that had a wagon and two horses at the back, and I honked my horn before I endeavored to turn out; it was about, I should think, 40 to 50 feet before I tried to turn out; I couldn't get his attention, however'—stands in the record to our minds, wholly uncontradicted. True, some of the witnesses testifying for plaintiff, particularly the plaintiff and the witness Bryson, say that they 'did not hear' a warning. When we take into consideration that the plaintiff, according to his own testimony, was at the time without thought and wholly unaware of the approach of defendant's automobile, that he was seated on a motorcycle moving at the rate of 15 or 20 miles an hour, that his view of the traveled road was obscured by Bryson's approaching wagon and horses, and of necessity had to cross immediately to the east side of the highway for safety and in passing the Bryson vehicle, and that the witness Bryson was, at the same time, apprehensively riveting his attention on the motorcycle approaching him, on account of his own safety, and through fear of the horse he was driving making him trouble, we may well believe these witnesses 'did not hear' the horn sounded by the defendant on his approach.

"The weight of negative testimony of witnesses, as to the giving of signals, ordinarily is for the jury to determine; but, when physical conditions and the attending circumstances are such as to render it highly improbable that they could hear, we think the rule should be and is otherwise. *Jordan v. Osborne*, 147 Wis. 623, 133 N. W. 32; *Menard v. Boston, etc., R. R.*, 150 Mass. 386, 23 N. E. 214. In the Massachusetts case, last above cited, the court, in speaking of the weight of this class of testimony, says:

"A witness may be in any conceivable attitude of attention or inattention, which will give his evidence value, or leave it with little or no weight."

In *Jensen v. Oregon Short Line R. Co.*, 59 Utah 367, 204 P. 101, one witness testified he heard no bell but was giving his attention to another train nearby. The train crew testified the bell was rung. The court held that the negative testimony had no probative value, stating:

“This is not a case in which the witness claims to have been listening for signals and failed to hear them. The witness in this case was not consciously listening at all. His attention was directed in another direction, and his mind was engrossed in other matters. * * *”

There is no claim in the instant case that Mrs. Hudson was listening for signals. The only possible inference to be drawn from the testimony was that she not only was not listening for signals, but that her attention was diverted to her conversation with Mrs. Jones and to listening for the “click” of the automobile transmission.

Clark et al. v. Union Pac. R. Co. et al., 70 Utah 29, 257 P. 1050, contains a thorough review of the law on the point, and in this case the evidence as to failure to give warning was held sufficient to create a controversy. At the time of the accident an extremely heavy fog obscured the railroad crossing. Two school girls walked along the road close to the crossing. They were familiar with the crossing and with the train schedule. They were late for school, and they particularly listened for the train in order to learn just how late they were. They testified they heard no whistle or bell. Two men were driving a team toward the crossing, and because the fog made it impossible for them to see the crossing, they were particularly alert for the sound of the

train. Both of these men testified they heard no whistle or bell. Two other men were feeding cattle near the crossing. One of the two was watching and listening for the train. Both testified they heard no whistle or bell. The court held, with one judge dissenting, that this evidence was of probative value and created a jury question as to failure to give warning. We quote from that opinion:

“* * * As to the question of signals it is the contention of the respondent that there was direct and positive evidence given that the whistle was sounded and the bell rung, and that the testimony of witnesses was merely of a negative character; that they did not hear either the sounding of the whistle or the ringing of the bell; and that in such case such negative testimony did not raise any conflict in the evidence. In support of that Jensen v. O. S. L. R. R. Co., 59 Utah 367, 204 P. 101; Quinley v. Springfield Traction Co., 180 Mo. App. 287, 165 S. W. 346; Oliver v. U. P. R. R. Co., 105 Neb. 243, 179 N. W. 1017; Bannister v. Ill. Cent. Ry. Co., 199 Iowa, 657, 202 N. W. 766; Seaboard Air Line Ry. v. Myrick (Fla.) 109 So. 193, and other cases, are cited. These cases in effect hold that a mere negation on the part of a witness that he did not hear the bell rung or the whistle sounded on an engine approaching a crossing will not sustain a finding by a jury that such signals were not given, when it is shown that the witness was not paying attention to the occurrence, and does not know whether the whistle was or was not sounded or the bell rung, and only testified that he did not hear the warning, and that such testimony does not contradict positive and direct testimony of a witness or witnesses that the whistle was sounded and the bell rung. But a reading of the cases and of other cases on the subject shows that it is not the fact of negative testimony, but the character of the negative

testimony, which is regarded as not sufficient to support a verdict that signals were not given, or to raise a conflict with testimony that the bell was rung and whistle blown. It is clear that, where one witness testifies that the whistle was sounded and the bell rung, and another witness of equal opportunity to know the fact testifies that he was listening to see whether the whistle did or did not sound and the bell ring, and that the whistle did not sound nor the bell ring, positive testimony is met by positive testimony; and, if the witnesses are of equal credibility, the testimony of the one is entitled to as much weight as the other. Even where a witness testifies that he was listening for signals, and was in position to hear the signals had they been given, and that, if they had been given, he would have heard them, but that he did not hear any signals given, some courts treat that kind of evidence not as negative but as positive testimony. Other courts treat it as negative testimony, but in such case not to be disregarded, but to be considered of sufficient probative value to justify a finding that signals were not given, and to raise a conflict in the evidence where there was positive testimony that the bell was rung and the whistle blown. Whether the testimony of a witness, who is shown to have been in position to hear the signals had they been given, that he was listening for them, and would have heard them had they been given, but heard no signals, be regarded as positive or negative in character, still we think the weight of judicial authority shows that such testimony is of such probative value as to justify a jury in giving as much, or even greater, weight to it than to positive testimony of witnesses that the signals were given, if the witnesses are of equal credibility. Though a witness was not specially listening for signals, or giving special attention to the occurrence, yet, if his attention was not engrossed or diverted to other things, and it being

made to appear that he was in position to hear, and in all likelihood would have heard, them, had they been given, his testimony that he heard none is still of probative value, and is not to be disregarded, though its weight be not regarded as great as the testimony of a witness who testified that he was specially watching and listening for signals, and heard none, or of a witness that they were or were not given. * * *

The subject was next treated by the Utah Supreme Court in *Anderson v. Union Pacific R. Co.*, 76 Utah 324, 289 P. 146. In this case two witnesses were working on a steam engine just six feet from the railroad track at the scene of the accident. One of the two testified he had no remembrance of hearing the bell. The other testified he didn't hear the bell or whistle. The court said:

“* * * Upon this evidence the plaintiff was not entitled to go to the jury on such questions. The testimony of the witness which is merely to the effect that he did not hear a whistle blown or a bell rung is not sufficient to overcome positive and direct testimony that the whistle was sounded and the bell rung. To entitle negative testimony such as that of Redden and Thompson affecting the ringing of the bell and the blowing of the whistle on the occasion in question to any probative value, it must be made to appear that they were paying some attention to what actually occurred and that they were in a position where they could and did observe what was done or what was not done. *Clark v. Union Pacific Railroad Company* (Utah) 257 Pac. 1050 and cases there cited.”

From these Utah cases, then, we learn that when there is positive testimony as to the giving of a warning, before

negative testimony that no warning was given raises a conflict with respect thereto, it must appear that the person so testifying was in a position to hear and that he was paying some attention.

Since the subject has been thoroughly treated by the Utah Court, it will serve little purpose to cite other authority. Examination of cases from other jurisdictions shows, however, that the Utah decisions are in accord with the majority. We invite the court's attention to the extensive annotation in 162 A. L. R. at page 9. For later cases on the subject see:

Norfolk & W. Ry. Co. v. Eley, (Va.) 162 S. E. 3.
Poland v. City of Seattle, (Wash.) 93 P. 2d 379.
Union Pacific Ry. Co. v. Gaede, 110 F. 2d. 931.
Flagg v. Chicago Great Western Ry. Co., 143 F. 2d 90.

Canion v. Southern Pacific Co., (Ariz.) 80 P. 2d 397.

Powell et al. v. Gary, (Fla.) 200 So. 854.

Robertson v. New York Central Ry. Co., (Ill.) 58 N. E. 2d 527.

State, for Use of Emerson v. Poe, (Md.) 190 A. 231.

Allison v. Boston & M. R., (N. H.) 190 A. 127.

Ealy et ux. v. New York Central Ry. Co., (Pa.) 5 A. 2d 110.

Lehigh Valley Ry. Co. v. Mamgan, 278 F. 85.

In 44 Am. Jur., Railroads, Sec. 629, it is stated:

“While negative testimony that the witness did not hear the bell or whistle of the train as he approached the crossing is admissible, such evidence ranges through all degrees of credibility. Testimony

of a witness that he did not hear the signal, without proof that the witness was listening and was in a position to hear, carries little or no weight, especially in the face of positive and direct evidence to the contrary. In the face of positive evidence that signals were sounded, testimony of a witness that he did not hear any signal is entitled to no weight and does not create a conflict of evidence sufficient to go to the jury. Especially is this true where it appeared that witnesses who testified that they did not hear the signals were not in a situation to hear, or were not noticing for the purpose of hearing such signals.

* * *

The evidence fails to show that Mrs. Hudson was attentive and was listening for the approaching train. She was not conscious of the nearby railroad track. Her attention was diverted elsewhere. It is not shown that the brakeman was attentive to the whistle until the emergency application attracted his attention. As testified to by the conductor and other crew members, workmen in the caboose pay little or no attention to crossing whistles.

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